IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeal

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
Workers' Compensation Commission

JUN 20 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001336

Jose Juan Jimenez, Employee,.....Appellant,

v.

Kohler Company, Self-Insured Employer,.....Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Alton L. Martin, Jr.  
MARTIN & MARTIN, PA  
Post Office Box 8220  
Greenville, SC 29604  
(864) 271-1822 telephone  
(864) 271-1814 fax  
[Al@martinslawfirm.com](mailto:Al@martinslawfirm.com)

Attorney for Appellant

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred in finding Mr. Jimenez did not carry his burden of establishing a compensable injury, based on the substantial evidence and applicable law.
2. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred in providing conclusory findings and conclusions lacking sufficient specific for appellate review.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an Appeal by Jose Jimenez, Appellant, from a decision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission finding that he did not sustain an "injury by accident" on July 14, 2011 or March 13, 2012, per 42-1-160. Mr. Jimenez contends the Commission erred in determining that both of his work accidents were not an "injury by accident". This finding was made despite the fact that both accidents were reported to Appellant's supervisor; his supervisor documented the accidents; and the company nurse treated him for both reported injuries. Mr. Jimenez further contends the Commission did not correctly apply the law related to the determination of an "injury by accident" on either date. Alternatively, Mr. Jimenez, contends the Commission's Findings and Conclusions are conclusory and do not provide sufficient grounds for the Court to conduct appellate review.

Mr. Jimenez injured his back on July 14, 2011, when he was emptying drain pans at Kohler where he worked as a caster. (R. p. 230, lines 6-22; p. 476; p. 674, lines 19-25; p. 675, lines 1-4) Mr. Jimenez reported the accident to his supervisor, Sam Barnwell, the following day. (R. p. 398, lines 14-25; p. 399, lines 1-25; p. 400, lines 1-10; p. 476; p. 677, lines 11-15). His supervisor completed an incident report and referred him to the plant nurse, Pat Zimmerman. (R. p. 398, lines 14-25; p. 399, lines 1-25; p. 400, lines 1-

10; p. 476). The nurse documented his visit and provided treatment. (R. p. 174, p. 485, lines 11-24; p. 512, lines 4-11; p. 532).

On March 13, 2012, Claimant injured his back and legs while picking up molds from the floor while performing his job at Kohler. (R. p. 678, lines 5-10; p. 679, lines 13-16). He reported the incident to the same supervisor, Sam Barnwell, the following day March 14, 2012. (R. p. 402, lines 18-25; p. 403, lines 1-10; p. 475). His supervisor completed a second accident report and again referred him to the plant nurse. (R. p. 402, lines 18-15; p. 403, lines 1-10; p. 475; p. 679, lines 17-19). The nurse again documented his visit and provided treatment. (R. p. 173; p. 488, lines 17-25; p. 489, lines 1-2; p. 512, lines 12-21; p. 533).

Mr. Jimenez asked his supervisor several times about the company providing further medical treatment with a doctor. (R. p. 240, lines 5-10; p. 241, lines 9-19). When he received no response from his supervisor, Mr. Jimenez sought medical treatment on his own in April 2012 and October 2012 for problems related to his back. (R. p 175; pp. 145-148). These back problems began after he was injured at work.

A meeting was scheduled by his supervisor on November 1, 2012, for Mr. Jimenez to speak with the nurse. (R. p. 406, lines 15-24).

On November 1, 2012, Mr. Jimenez went to the nurse's station for the meeting. (R. p. 427, lines 22-25; p. 530; p. 759, lines 2-5). He expected to meet with the nurse to request treatment by a doctor for his work injury. Instead, in addition to the plant nurse; his supervisor; his manager, and, the Safety Director, were waiting for him in the nurse's station. (R. p. 172; p. 530; p. 680, lines 4-8). At the meeting, Mr. Jimenez asked to see the company doctor about his back. (R. p. 439, lines 22-25; p. 440, lines 1-25; p. 450,

lines 9-25; p. 451, lines 1-10; p. 681, lines 15-17). He said it was still bothering him from the March 2012 work accident. (R. p. 431, lines 1-12; p. 681, lines 9-12). Mike Tolleson, the Safety Director, told him he would not be sent to the company doctor because he had waited too long to ask for treatment. (R. p. 431, lines 18-20; p. 452, lines 19-25; p. 453, lines 1-8; p. 439, lines 22-25; p. 440, lines 1-25; p. 681, lines 18-25). Mr. Jimenez returned to work. (R. p. 687, lines 11-25; p. 688, lines 1-3).

Mr. Jimenez continued to seek medical care on his own. (R. p. 432, lines 1-24; p. 682, lines 1-9). Dr. Erica Savage-Jeter at Family Medical Center (FMC) referred him for an MRI and surgical consult with Dr. Rodriguez at Orthopaedic Specialties of Spartanburg. (R. p. 244, lines 15-23; p. 311, lines 19-25; p. 312, lines 1-2, lines 8-9; and lines 13-14; p. 313, lines 3-8). FMC was the same medical group Respondent-Kohler used as its company doctor. (R. p. 494, lines 14-18; p. 380, lines 8-10; p. 316, lines 7-10). Dr. Savage-Jeter placed Mr. Jimenez on light duty until he could be seen for the orthopaedic surgery evaluation. (R. p. 312, lines 8-9, lines 13-14; p. 313, lines 3-8). Dr. Savage-Jeter advised Mr. Jimenez he would need a special form used by Respondent-Kohler for workers' compensation in order to address work restrictions. (R. p. 313, lines 23-25; p. 314, lines 1-8, lines 23-24; p. 316, lines 14-25; p. 317, lines 1-14; p. 245, lines 2-7; p. 683, lines 15-16). She told him to bring her a copy of the Kohler form so that she could document his work restrictions. Mr. Jimenez met with his supervisor, Sam Barnwell and David Lee on January 30, 2013 and requested the special Kohler form that the doctor told him was required for light duty. (R. p. 245, lines 8-18; p. 432, lines 19-25; p. 433, lines 1-5). Mr. Barnwell and Mr. Lee told him they didn't know what he was talking about. They told him he must get a note from the doctor allowing him to return to

work without restrictions. (R. p. 433, lines 5-25; p. 434, lines 1-25; p. 435, lines 1-8; p. 458, lines 3-22; p. 463, lines 14-25; p. 464, lines 8-22; p. 540, lines 12-25; p. 541, lines 15-25; p. 542, lines 1-6; p. 683, lines 8-22).

Dr. Savage-Jeter testified in her deposition, Respondent Kohler uses a special form for work restrictions. (R. p. 316, lines 11-25; p. 317, lines 1-9).

The plant nurse testified in her deposition that Respondent Kohler requires a special form be completed by its company doctor regarding work restrictions for light duty for employees injured on-the-job. (R. p. 515, lines 22-25; p. 516, lines 1-25; p. 517, lines 1-25; p. 518, lines 1-15).

Mr. Jimenez returned to Dr. Savage-Jeter and asked her to provide him with a note addressing his restrictions. The doctor wrote the note and he provided it to Kohler (R. p. 122; p. 542, lines 7-20).

Form 50 Hearing Requests were filed on February 1, 2013 for both dates of accident. (R. pp. 38 – 43).

Mr. Jimenez was terminated on February 5, 2013 for having accrued too many points. He accrued the excess points due to his not being allowed to work light duty by Kohler. (R. p. 571, lines 8-24). Had Mr. Jimenez been given the special Kohler form he requested from his supervisor, (the one he was told did not exist) he would not have accrued the additional points that resulted in his termination. (R. p. 543, lines 6-25; p. 544, lines 1-9).

Mr. Jimenez was deposed on April 16, 2013. (R. p. 205).

A Hearing was scheduled for May 8, 2013. Pre-Hearing Briefs were timely filed by both parties. However, the hearing was postponed on Motion of Respondent-Kohler

in order to conduct additional discovery. Specifically, Respondent-Kohler's wanted to depose witnesses, Jesus Lugo and Yuri Valderamma, who had been identified by Appellant, in his Pre-Hearing Brief.

In Respondent's Pre-Hearing Brief, Respondent-Kohler disclosed the existence of surveillance video. After obtaining and reviewing a copy of the video, Appellant filed a Motion seeking to exclude evidence and hold Kohler in Contempt. (R. pp. 52-66). The basis for the Motion was that Respondent-Kohler had sent a team of private investigators to Mr. Jimenez's home on April 22, 2013. The investigators, posing as AT & T contractors came onto Mr. Jimenez's property wearing hard hats and vests. They asked him why he wasn't working. They told him he needed to move a pile of gravel out of the right-of-way. This resulted in Mr. Jimenez calling the trailer park maintenance man to come and move the gravel. One of the investigators then asked Mr. Jimenez to help him lift the other side of a chair. (R. pp. 57-59; pp. 62-63; p. 65). While none of the video showed Mr. Jimenez performing anything that violated his restrictions, Appellant's attorney sought sanctions for Kohler's investigators directly communicating with his client when Kohler was aware he was represented. (R. p. 54) The surveillance was conducted 6 days after Respondent-Kohler had taken Mr. Jimenez's deposition. (R. p. 205).

A motion hearing was scheduled and then postponed by the hearing Commissioner to allow the parties to submit briefs. Respondent-Kohler subsequently agreed the surveillance report and video were inadmissible and their investigators would not be called as witnesses. The parties were directed to mediate.

After mediation was held, a hearing was rescheduled for May 23, 2014 on the still pending Form 50 filed on February 1, 2013. Respondent-Kohler never deposed Mr. Lugo and Mr. Valderamma, as requested in their Motion for additional discovery prior to the hearing

The hearing took place over the course of three (3) days, May 23, 2014; June 3, 2014; and June 4, 2014.

Sam Barnwell, the supervisor that completed both incident reports, testified at the hearing. Although his recollection was extremely limited, he admitted Mr. Jimenez reported both work accidents to him. He testified that he completed both incident reports and referred Mr. Jimenez to the plant nurse. (R. p. 398, line 14-25; p. 399, lines 1-25; p. 400, lines 1-20; p. 402, lines 18-25; p. 403, lines 1-15; p. 404, lines 3-12) Mr. Barnwell provided no testimony suggesting the accidents were staged or that Mr. Jimenez feigned injury. Nor did he provide any testimony that Mr. Jimenez's reported injuries of July 15, 2011 and March 14, 2012 were not caused from the reported accidents of July 14, 2011 and March 14, 2012.

The plant nurse, Pat Zimmerman, was deposed at the Kohler plant on May 30, 2014, between hearing dates. Nurse Zimmerman had worked as Kohler's only plant nurse for forty-six and a half years prior to her retirement on February 1, 2014. (R. p. 482, lines 2-15). She was eighty-four years old at the time of her deposition. (R. p. 519, lines 24-25; p. 520, lines 1-4). She also confirmed that Mr. Jimenez reported to her office for treatment of injuries on July 15, 2011 and March 14, 2012 related to the work accidents that he had reported to Mr. Barnwell. (R. p. 484, lines 12-21; p. 485, lines 11-22; p. 488, lines 17-25, p. 489, lines 1-4). She confirmed her notes accurately

documented his treatment on those dates. (R. p. 173; p. 174; p. 488, lines 12-14; p. 497, lines 19-25; p. 498, lines 1-9; p. 532; p. 533). She testified Mr. Jimenez had done everything necessary to report an injury. (R. p. 512, lines 4-25, p. 513, lines 1-22).

Respondents provided no other evidence about the events of these two accidents. In particular, there was no suggestion that Mr. Jimenez did not actually suffer the accidents as he claimed, or that the complaints of back pain he made to the nurse the day following each accident were not attributable to his work accidents. Rather, Respondents witnesses testimony dealt with Mr. Jimenez's actions after each reported accident. Specifically: returning to work after reporting each accident; continuing to perform his job after treating with the nurse; allegedly failing to return to the nurse for follow up after his initial treatment for the reported injuries; and, alleged delay in seeking additional medical treatment for several months after each reported accident. Respondents argued this evidence addressed the issues of notice and whether an injury by accident occurred. This remained Respondents position throughout the hearing<sup>1</sup>. In fact, the Hearing Commissioner noted several times that the issues were notice of an injury, and injury by accident. (R. p. 326, lines 19-25, p. 327, lines 1-20; p.587, lines 15-22; p. 641, lines 22-25; p. 642, lines 1-25; p. 643, lines 1-14).

The hearing Order was issued on October 24, 2014. Of note, Finding 9 of the Order held:

9. I find that claimant reported "incidents" following each alleged date of injury, however, **I find these do not rise to the level of defining an injury to the employer.** This issue is further revealed by the claimant's lack of requested follow-up and lack of medical treatment for months following each alleged date of injury. This Finding is based upon the greater weight of the evidence in the record.

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondents also later raised an intervening accident argument.. (R. p. 389, lines 5-25; p. 390, lines 1-20).

(R. p. 28).

A Form 30 was timely filed by Appellant. (R. pp. 190-192). The Full Commission hearing was held on March 16, 2015. Appellant argued Mr. Jimenez provided notice to his supervisor and the plant nurse. (R. p. 868, lines 17-25; p. 869, lines 1-25; p. 870, lines 1-2). His alleged delay in seeking treatment or follow-up actions, after he provided Notice, could not undo the fact he had given notice.

The Full Commission issued its Order on May 22, 2015 finding “the Decision and Order of the Hearing Commissioner must be affirmed with an Amendment, specifically, the clarification of Finding of Fact 9.” (R. p. 37).

The Commission attempted to correct the Hearing Order’s unsupportable ruling on Notice, but in modifying Finding 9, Finding 13, and Conclusion 3, created new and different error.

This Appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

It was undisputed that the Appellant, Jose Jimenez, was in need of medical treatment for his back at the time of the May 23-June 4, 2014 hearing. (R. p. 281, lines 21-25, p. 282, lines 1-2). He was seeking authorization of the surgery recommended by the treating orthopaedic surgeon, Dr. Rodriguez, and payment of temporary total benefits for his time out of work. (R. p. 68; p. 69; p. 325, lines 24-25; p. 326, lines 1-18).

Mr. Jimenez was referred to the treating orthopaedic surgeons, Dr. Rodriguez and Dr. Terzella, by Dr. Erica Savage-Jeter with Family Medical Center. (R. pp. 127-128; p. 313, lines 6-10). Family Medical Center (FMC) is the same group used by Respondent Kohler as its company doctor for workers’ compensation claims. (R. p. 316, lines 7-10; p.

380, lines 4-10; p. 494, lines 14-18; p. 495, lines 2-9).

According to Dr. Savage-Jeter, Dr. Rodriguez, and Dr. Terzella, Mr. Jimenez's back problems were the result of his injuries from his work accidents at Respondent-Kohler. (R. p. 79; p. 289, lines 14-25; p. 290, lines 1-2; p. 317, lines 16-25; p. 318 lines 1-20). Respondents did not provide an IME or any medical evidence disputing the opinions of the three treating doctors.

Mr. Jimenez reported an injury by accident to his supervisor, Sam Barnwell, on July 14, 2011. (R. p. 398, lines 14-25; p. 399, lines 1-20). The incident report provided:

Associate reported to me at 5:00 a.m. on Friday July 15, 2011, that during the process of emptying his drain pans on his floor at 6:30 on Thursday, July 14, 2011, he felt something in the lower middle part of his back. Associate stated there was no pain, only a little tightness. Associate stated that he could cast his floor, as he continued to do all the procedures that day before he reported this to me, and felt fine. Had associates cast production and send associates to the reinstated associate. All accidents must be reported as soon as they happen on the same day, which he is aware of. Reinstated the associate proper lifting techniques and how to bend his knees while keeping his back straight and let the legs do the lifting.

(R. p. 476).

Mr. Jimenez was sent by his supervisor to the plant nurse, Pat Zimmerman. (R. p. 400, lines 8-10.) The nurse's records of July 15, 2011, reflect "on 7-14-11 @ 7:00 or 7:30 am was draining molds picked up a slip pan and felt low back pull is sore now." (R. p. 174; p. 532). She applied Bio Freeze to Mr. Jimenez's low back. She provided him with Back Quell tablets and advised him to use warm soaks over the weekend. (R. p. 174; p. 532; p. 485, lines 16-22; p. 488, lines 18-25; p. 489, lines 1-2).

Mr. Jimenez reported another injury by accident to his supervisor, Sam Barnwell, on March 14, 2012. (R. p. 402, lines 18-25; p. 403, lines 1 - 10). Again, an incident report was prepared by Sam Barnwell. His supervisor's report provided:

On Tuesday morning, March 13, 2012, associates told me as I was passing by him that his back was sore and asked me if he could get some pills from the nurse. I asked the associates if he was okay and he said yes. Wherein, I got him three packs of back pills from Sid DeVaul. The associate finished his work for the day at 13:30 and went home with no more complaints. On Wednesday morning at 4:50 a.m. associate came to me and stated that his left leg felt like it was asleep or numb and that this came from rolling the molds over on his floor on Tuesday around 9:00 a.m.. When I asked the associates why he did not report this he said this is why his back was sore and needed pills. I asked the associate if he could work and he stated that he had no problem casting today and is running production. Talked to the associate about the correct procedures and rolling over bowls and how important it was to work with his partner and make sure both castors were rolling over together and that one not getting ahead of the other in order to keep the weight distributed evenly. Also, to never rush while doing this procedure. Associate will also be required to do double exercise for the week in order to keep back muscles loose”

(R. p. 475).

Mr. Jimenez was again referred to Nurse Zimmerman for treatment by his supervisor. (R. p. 402, lines 11-15). The nurse saw Mr. Jimenez on March 14, 2012, and noted “EE says was rolling ware over yesterday and left low back felt sore. Today area feels like electric shock down leg.” She applied Bio Freeze and gave him medication.

(R. p. 173; p. 533).

Mr. Jimenez repeatedly asked his supervisor to be sent for further medical treatment with a doctor. (R. p. 240, lines 5-10; p. 241, lines 9-19). On April 30, 2012, Mr. Jimenez sought medical treatment at Doctor’s Care for back pain and shoulder pain from lifting at work. (R. p. 175). He was given a light duty note. (R. p. 176). He provided a copy of his medical note to his supervisor, Sam Barnwell. (R. p. 405, lines 13-25). A copy of the light duty note was later produced by Respondent Kohler, in

response to a subpoena for Mr. Jimenez's personnel file and employment records. (R. p. 383, lines 13-25; pp. 384-387).

On October 15, 2012, Mr. Jimenez sought medical treatment at the Family Medical Center (FMC) for his back and shoulder. (R. pp. 145 - 148). Dr. Savage-Jeter recommended he discuss his problem with his employer. (R. p. 310, lines 23-24; p. 311, lines 1-6). Mr. Jimenez insisted his supervisor, Sam Barnwell, schedule a meeting with the plant nurse. (R. p. 406, lines 15-24; p. 680, lines 9-10).

There was a meeting on November 1, 2012 in the nurse's office with Mike Tolleson, the Safety Manager; Sam Barnwell, Appellant's supervisor; Joe Brown, Appellant's manager; Pat Zimmerman, the plant nurse; and, Mr. Jimenez. (R. p. 406, lines 1-6; p. 427, lines 22-25; p. 759, lines 2-5). The nurse's notes from that meeting reflect:

Meeting with J. Brown, S. Barnwell and M. Tolleson.... EE says that he has seen a doctor with his back. EE came in on 3-14-12 and reported that on 3-13-12 he was rolling ware over and his left low back felt sore (see note in card dated 3-14-12 @ 8:55 a.m.) Was treated here on 3-14-12 was supposed to be rechecked on 3-15-12 but did not return.

(R. p. 172; p. 530).

Mr. Jimenez wanted a referral to the company doctor for his work-related back injury, but Safety Manager, Mike Tolleson, told him that he had waited too long and there was too big of a gap between his March accident and his seeking medical treatment now, (November 1, 2012) (R. p. 439, lines 22-25; p. 440, lines 1-25; p. 450, lines 9-25; p. 451, lines 1-10; p. 452, lines 19-25; p. 453, lines 1-18; p. 681, lines 9-17). He told Mr. Jimenez "if he could not do his job, there's the door." (R. p. 681, lines 18-25; p. 687, lines 3-16; p. 241, lines 22-25; p. 242, lines 1-16).

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