IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001336

RECEIVED

Jose Juan Jimenez, Employee, Appellant

APR 15 2016

v.

SC Court of Appeals

Kohler Company, Self-Insured Employer, Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT
KOHLER COMPANY**

Grady L. Beard
Nicolas L. Haigler
Robert E. Horner
Sowell Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondent Kohler

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001336

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

First, the facts in this case must be viewed in conjunction with the finding regarding the claimant's lack of credibility. Credibility, of course, is reserved to the Commission, and the Commission's finding on credibility must be the lens through which the evidence is evaluated.

See Ford v. Allied Chem. Co., 252 S.C. 561, 167 S.E.2d 564 (1969) (credibility is for the Commission). In addressing the claimant's witnesses, the Commission found neither Jesus Lugo nor Yuri Valderamma credible and found their testimony not relevant to the issues before the Commission.

With respect to the claimant himself, the Commission found that he, too, lacked credibility. The Commission noted that he was evasive, elusive, and generally unreliable. It was specifically noted that he had the inability to look at anyone during his testimony and he repeatedly attempted to quarrel with defense counsel on questions that required little contemplation. Moreover, his lack of credibility is readily apparent in the evidence adduced at the Hearing. The claimant repeatedly alleged that he requested additional medical care and treatment from various Kohler witnesses, but none of the witnesses testified that such a request was made until November 1, 2012. This was despite the fact that the claimant's supervisor required the claimant to see the nurse, wrote up an incident report for each of the incidents, followed up with the claimant regarding how he was feeling, and the fact that the claimant himself failed to keep an already-scheduled follow-up appointment with the nurse.⁹

Additionally, the claimant's lack of credibility is reflected by the inconsistent stories told by the claimant as reflected in his medical records. For example, on April 30, 2012, the claimant went to Doctor's Care and stated that he had back pain only for several days. At the Hearing, the claimant could not even testify what precipitated his visit to Doctor's Care. This was the first doctor the claimant had seen for alleged back pain and yet the claimant did not report it to the Defendant Kohler, despite alleging that two other incidents in the prior 11 months were work related. Additionally, on October 23, 2012, the claimant reported to Dr. Savage-Jeter that the pain

⁹ The claimant's lack of credibility is further demonstrated through his contention that his language posed a barrier when everyone testified they communicated with the claimant in English.

in his back had started only six months prior and that he could not relate it to a fall a work. On October 25, 2012, the claimant then reported that his back pain had been going on for one year—since October 2011. There are no reported incidents that align with this date. Moreover, only two days earlier, the claimant reported that the pain had only been going on for six months, not twelve.

The credibility problems continue for the claimant. The claimant testified that when he asked for light duty on November 1, 2012, he was told he could leave out the door. However, on November 28, 2012, four weeks after this alleged ultimatum, the claimant completed a Casting Process or Plate # Change form that ultimately resulted in performing a different, lighter job, contrary to his testimony that Mike Tolleson told him he would have to leave. (R. pp. 455-56, 461). Moreover, this Casting Process or Plate # Change Questionnaire, completed and signed by the claimant, stated that the claimant had no physical limitations that prevented him from doing the new job and that he did not need assistance to perform the new job. (R. p. 189). This is despite the fact that the claimant testified that he was requesting light duty work and had repeatedly asked to see a doctor for complaints referable to a July 2011 strain and/or a March 2012 strain. The record further reflects that the claimant repeatedly refused to admit during the Hearing that this job actually paid him more money than he was making, though ultimately he did confess to this.

Physical therapy notes also revealed credibility problems for the claimant. On November 9, 2012, the claimant reported new leg pain with a “big pop” in his left back. However, claimant testified that he had a pop in his back in July 2011, though this is not reflected in either the nurses’ notes or the incident report. On November 12, 2012, the claimant alleged new pains in his back that started “on Wednesday.” The physical therapist further noted that he did not complain of any shoulder pain until after his physical therapy appointment, though he allegedly suffered a shoulder

injury in September 2011. The physical therapist noted that the claimant's details of his injury and his symptoms continued to be "unclear."

Credibility problems continued for the claimant based upon the records of Dr. Rodriguez. On February 25, 2013, the claimant told Dr. Rodriguez that he could not recall a distinct injury at work, and yet the claimant reported two distinct incidents at work that he now alleges were the cause of his disc herniation, and had filed workers' compensation claims prior to that conversation wherein the claimant alleged specific dates of injury. The claimant's lack of a specific incident at work led Dr. Rodriguez to conclude that "given the fact he does not have a specific injury causing these symptoms, it is more difficult to make this relationship." (R. p. 109). Additionally, Dr. Rodriguez notes that the claimant had a coccyx fall at work years earlier that could have been the cause, but again the claimant reports no discernable injury at work as the cause of his problems. Finally, on July 31, 2013, the claimant returned to Dr. Rodriguez and reported for the first time that his back injury was related to an incident that occurred on July 14, 2011. On this point, Dr. Rodriguez testified that the claimant stated that he felt a pop in the back, had an increase in pain, and that the pain waxed and waned because of the "pain medicine they prescribed." (R. p. 264, ll. 4-21). The records and testimony reflect that the claimant never reported a "pop" in his back on July 14, 2011. In fact, the claimant did not even report actual pain on that day. Moreover, the claimant told the doctor that his pain waxed and waned with prescription medications but he was, in fact, not on any pain medications from July 2011 through October 2012 but for receiving Back Quell (not a prescription) and a couple of days of ibuprofen from Doctor's Care. (R. p. 701). Finally, Dr. Rodriguez testified that he believed that the claimant had been coached on his July 23, 2013, visit to specifically allege an incident on July 14, 2011.

In viewing the evidence in light of the claimant's lack of credibility, the Commission's decision that the claimant failed to establish a causal relationship between his disc herniation and his July 14, 2011 incident or his March 13, 2012, incident is easily supported by substantial evidence. The claimant reported one day of back tightness on July 14, 2011. He was given essentially a cold compress and some Tylenol, never to be heard from again for his back until March 13, 2012. During this period of time, the claimant made no complaints of back pain to anyone. The claimant did not see the plant nurse, who was available to him at all times, and did not see a doctor outside of work, though he had health insurance readily available to him. He did not request light duty due to any backaches or pains. With the July 2011 incident, he did not actually even report pain, but only tightness or soreness.

The evidence further established that the claimant again complained of some minor soreness when he was rolling wares on March 13, 2012. He reported to the nurse and was given BioFreeze and Back Quell (Tylenol with Magnesium Salicylate). Again, these are merely over-the-counter medications given to the claimant. Despite having a follow-up appointment with the nurse, the claimant did not return to the nurse but instead reported that he was fine and continuing to work without difficulty. Forty-seven (47) days later, rather than return to the nurse where he could be seen for any complaints, the claimant went to Doctor's Care, unbeknownst to his employer, and complained of back pain of a few days duration. He was given a light duty note for three days. He worked full duty and did not return to Doctor's Care again. Six months later, in October 2012, he saw Dr. Jeter for back pain, had an x-ray which revealed a prior coccyx fracture, could not recall any incident at work that caused his back pain, but reported several falls at work, none of which resulted in a reported workers' compensation claim. He reported to Dr. Savage-Jeter that his back had been bothering him for six months, though later he would tell her that it had

been bothering him for a year. In late November 2012, the claimant changed jobs within the casting department but did not reveal any physical limitations preventing him from doing the new job, but rather affirmatively denied any physical problems. The claimant also began complaining in November 2012 of new aches, new pains, and new pops in his back, causing his physical therapist to state that the details of his injuries and symptoms were unclear. Dr. Savage-Jeter testified that she could not state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the claimant's back injury was causally related to his work.

Likewise, Dr. Rodriguez's records reveal that the claimant did not identify a specific injury to his back initially, though the claimant later "clarified" his story in a way that Dr. Rodriguez believed had been coached, stating that he had felt a pop in his back and that was the start of all of his problems, though the prescription medications helped with his pain. The claimant, however, was not on prescription medications and never reported a "pop" in his back on July 14, 2011. Dr. Rodriguez also opined that the claimant's injury could have been related to a coccyx injury from a fall years earlier. Dr. Rodriguez's testimony also established that he thought the claimant could have continued working since July 2011 with his back injury if he was taking medications during the time as represented by the claimant. Again, though, there is no evidence the claimant was taking prescription medications between July 2011 and when the claimant began seeing Dr. Jeter in October 2012, as he never saw a physician who could prescribe such medications. Dr. Rodriguez admitted that it was a concern from a causation standpoint that the claimant was able to identify a mechanism of injury to the Commission in February 2013 but was unable to identify one to Dr. Rodriguez until after his claim was denied in July 2013. While Dr. Rodriguez stated that he still believed that the claimant needed back surgery as a result of his alleged work-related accident which occurred on or about July 14, 2011, Dr. Rodriguez testified that in support of this

conclusion was the fact that the claimant continued to have symptoms throughout that time—an assertion that is not supported by the evidence in this case, as the claimant went from July 2011 until October 2012 with complaints of back pain but for a few days out of this entire 16 month period.

Though the claimant alleges that the expert medical evidence in this case establishes causation, expert testimony is not dispositive of the issue. The Appellate Panel is given discretion to weigh and consider all the evidence, both lay and expert, when deciding whether causation has been established. Ballenger v. S. Worsted Corp., 209 S.C. 463, 467, 40 S.E.2d 681, 682–83 (1946). Thus, while medical testimony is entitled to great respect, the fact finder may disregard it if other competent evidence is presented. Id. Indeed, “medical testimony should not be held conclusive irrespective of other evidence.” Id. at 467, 40 S.E.2d at 682-83.

Once admitted, expert testimony is to be considered just like any other testimony. Smith v. Southern Builders, 202 S.C. 88, 24 S.E.2d 109 (1943). Expert medical testimony is intended to aid the Appellate Panel in coming to the correct conclusion. Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 624, 571 S.E.2d 92, 98 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation omitted). The weight to be accorded all evidence is reserved to the Appellate Panel and not an appellate court. Shealy, 341 S.C. at 455, 535 S.E.2d at 442; Roper v. Kimbrell's of Greenville, 231 S.C. 453, 461, 99 S.E.2d 52, 57 (1957) (noting it is not for the appellate court to balance objective against subjective findings of medical witnesses, or to weigh the testimony of one witness against that of another, as that function belongs to the Appellate Panel alone).

Moreover, the Appellate Panel is not bound by the opinion of medical experts. Sanders v. MeadWestvaco Corp., 371 S.C. 284, 292, 638 S.E.2d 66, 71 (Ct. App. 2006). “[I]n compensation proceedings, where uncontroverted medical opinions are merely deductions drawn from certain

symptoms, the final conclusion remains with the triers of fact.” Sharpe, 336 S.C. at 161, 519 S.E.2d at 106.

The Appellate Panel addressed the medical opinions in this case and found them not dispositive on the issue of causation. It found the testimony of Dr. Savage-Jeter to not be dispositive on the issue of causation. As to Dr. Rodriguez, the Appellate Panel found the testimony to not be compelling. It was noted that his opinion vacillated and when specifically addressing the issue of causation, Dr. Rodriguez admitted that his opinion of causation was based upon the claimant’s subjective statements. As noted, the claimant was found to lack credibility by the Commission and much of his history given to Dr. Rodriguez is inaccurate or suspect given that the claimant appeared even to Dr. Rodriguez to have been coached, a point noted by the Appellate Panel.

Because the Appellate Panel’s decision is one that is supported by substantial evidence, it should be affirmed by this Court.

II. The Appellate Panel’s Decision and Order states Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law satisfactory to afford the claimant judicial review.

The claimant argues that the Appellate Panel’s Decision and Order are conclusory and lack specificity to allow a proper appellate review. More specifically, the claimant focuses on Finding of Fact #9, Finding of Fact #13, and Conclusion of Law #3. The claimant’s position that the Decision and Order is conclusory and lacks specificity is without merit.

Initially, this argument is not preserved for review. The claimant did not raise the insufficiency of the Hearing Commissioner’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law to the Appellate Panel. As such, this issue is not preserved for review. Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc., 353 S.C. 339, 577 S.E.2d 475 (Ct. App. 2003) (noting that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the single commissioner or in a

request for commission review of the single commissioner's order to be preserved for appellate review). Although the claimant is appealing the Appellate Panel's Order, this Order was adopted from the Hearing Commissioner's, as is allowed by statute and case law. It was affirmed in its entirety but for three amendments to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. If the claimant believed that the Hearing Commissioner's Order was conclusory and lacked specificity which would have prevented the Appellate Panel from reviewing the case and adopting it as its own with its amendments, he was obligated to appeal that to the Appellate Panel so that it could address the issue both with respect to the Hearing Commissioner's Order and remand it to the Hearing Commissioner or make additional findings that would support its decision. As such, this Court should find that the issue is not preserved for review.

Even if this Court does address the claimant's argument with respect to the issue of the sufficiency of the Appellate Panel's Order, it is an argument without merit.¹⁰

The claimant's argument that the Decision and Order is conclusory and does not state sufficient findings of fact or conclusions of law is without merit. South Carolina Code section 1-23-350 requires that findings of fact be accompanied by a concise and explicit statement of the underlying facts supporting the findings. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-350 (2005). In the present case, the Hearing Commissioner's Order set forth twenty-one (21) pages of underlying facts presented at the Hearing that support the Commission's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. These

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